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I. Setting the Stage 
 
 In assessing the issues raised by the Enron ERISA litigation, a balanced 
perspective requires an understanding of several elementary propositions:   
 
 In defined contribution plans such as the Enron 401(k) plan, the 

investment risk lies with the participants. Unlike a defined benefit plan, 
where the plan sponsor promises a benefit that can be readily calculated, 
no promise of any particular benefit or level of benefits is made by the plan 
sponsor in a defined contribution plan. Quite literally, the employer 
contributes and the participants may contribute, and at the end of the day 
each participant gets the balance in his or her account. This is the case 
whether plan assets are managed by the plan sponsor, by an outside 
professional, or by each participant for his or her own account.  

 To qualify for exclusion from ERISA’s diversification rules, a defined 
contribution plan must be an eligible individual account plan, i.e., by 
definition must explicitly provide for the acquisition and holding of 
company stock.1 

 The plan sponsor of a publicly held company that includes a company 
stock fund as an investment choice under its eligible individual account 
plan is expressing an intent that is every bit as significant as the intent 
expressed by the sponsor of an ESOP. 

 Under Title I of ERISA there is no statutory basis for distinguishing 
between an ESOP and any other eligible individual account plan with 
regard to the deference to be paid to the plan sponsor’s intent regarding 
company stock.2 

                                            
1  See § 407(d)(3) of ERISA; see also §§ 3(34), 404(a)(2) and 407(b), (d)(5) and (f). As used herein, 
“company stock” means stock issued by the plan sponsor or an affiliate that is a qualifying employer 
security within the meaning of § 407(d)(5) of ERISA. The author has not reviewed the Enron 401(k) plan, 
but it is highly likely that it explicitly provides for investment in company stock and that fact is assumed in 
the remainder of this paper. 
2  There are tax and structural differences between ESOPs and other eligible individual account 
plans, but none of them has any relevance under ERISA to the degree of deference that fiduciaries and 
courts ought to give to a plan sponsor’s decision to make company stock available as an investment 
option for its 401(k) plan participants or to limit investment to company stock through, e.g., the terms of 
the match. 



 Notwithstanding the common wisdom about the risk of all eggs being in 
one basket, Congress in 1974 knowingly and deliberately permitted 
eligible individual account plans to be as much as 100% invested in 
company stock and has resisted every effort since then to significantly 
modify that rule.3   

 
   All of the above are elementary propositions and not debatable, but one would 
never know it from the Enron-inspired popular media or the oratory on Capitol Hill, nor 
do these propositions jump out at a reader of the consolidated complaint in the Enron 
ERISA litigation. 
 
 
II. The Enron ERISA Litigation 
 
 Plaintiffs in the Enron ERISA litigation4 allege that fiduciaries of Enron’s 401(k) 
plan, which offered company stock as a participant investment choice and matched 
participant contributions solely with company stock, breached their fiduciary duty by not 
taking some kind of action to prevent participants from continuing to hold and continuing 
to invest in company stock when the fiduciaries knew or should have known that the 
value of the stock was artificially inflated due to fraudulently deceptive and misleading 
accounting irregularities. In addition to fiduciaries, other defendants (some of whom are 
asserted to have been knowing participants in the fiduciary breaches) include 
accountants, investment bankers, and a law firm.5 
 
 The complaint6 implicates several key areas of ERISA fiduciary jurisprudence.  

 

                                            
3  The 1998 “Boxer” amendment is not significant because it imposes no limitation at all in the case 
of a participant directed plan. See § 407(b)(2) of ERISA. Moreover, Congress has resisted change even 
while the role of individual account plans and the balance between defined contribution plans and defined 
benefit plans have changed dramatically. To the extent that the 1974 Congress perceived the defined 
contribution plan to be an ancillary sidekick to the much more predictable defined benefit plan, that 
certainly could not have been the case in 1998 when Congress watered down Senator Boxer’s attempt to 
reign in company stock. By that time 20 years of development under section 401(k) and 25 years of over-
regulation of defined benefit plans had dramatically shifted the balance between the two types of plans. 
The participant directed profit sharing or savings plan now commanded the popular heights and was, as a 
practical matter, the only employer-sponsored retirement income vehicle available for employees of most 
small and medium-sized companies and for all employees throughout certain industries. Similarly, the 
House-passed, Enron-inspired H.R. 3762 does not significantly limit the extent to which 401(k) plan 
participants may invest in company stock once that option has been made available under the plan, and it 
certainly does not limit the plan sponsor’s right to offer the option. Its only material limitation is on the 
length of time a match in company stock must remain undiversified. 
4  Tittle, et al. v. Enron Corp., et al., First Consolidated and Amended Complaint (Civil Action No. H 
01-3913, U.S.D.C., S.D. Tex.), April 8, 2002. Similar suits relying on the similar theories have been filed 
against IKON Office Solutions, Global Crossing, the Williams Companies, Qwest, Lucent, Rite-Aid, and 
others.  
5 See Appendix A for a description of the parties. 
6  Weighing in at several pounds (300-plus pages), this complaint is heavy on accusatory narrative, 
but the ERISA claims are surprisingly spare.  



 The reach of the settlor function doctrine, and specifically, when a 
fiduciary is free to (or must) ignore the settlor’s intent as expressed in 
the plan documents (“fiduciary override”).  

 Whether there is a fiduciary duty to communicate with plan participants 
in the absence of a participant inquiry and in the absence of an 
express statutory command. 

 The meaning of the oft-cited but rarely analyzed duty of a named 
fiduciary to monitor the conduct of persons he has appointed carry out 
fiduciary duties. 

 The scope of a directed trustee’s fiduciary duty, if any. 
 The ever-popular question of when service providers who are not 

fiduciaries are liable as if they were fiduciaries.7 
 
 The complaint encompasses the Enron ESOP and the Enron cash balance plan 
as well as the 401(k) savings plan. However, the discussion herein is limited to the 
savings plan, and to the obligation of fiduciaries where investment in company stock is a 
choice or is mandated by the plan. 
   
 
III. The Fiduciary Override  - When Does It Kick In? 
 
 Section 404(a)(1)(D) of ERISA states that fiduciaries are bound to discharge their 
duties in accordance with the terms of governing plan documents “insofar as such 
documents . . . are consistent with the provisions of [Titles I and IV of ERISA].”  For 
certain types of issues, this subparagraph is easy to interpret. If ERISA permits a 
participation-waiting period of no more than a year and the plan calls for a 3-year wait, 
the plan administrator is not bound to follow the terms of the plan. But where another 
fiduciary duty e.g., the duty of care or the duty of loyalty, arguably conflicts with the duty 
to adhere to the terms of the plan, section 404(a)(1)(D) is more difficult to interpret. 
Where the plan provisions at issue have to do with investment in company stock, the 
circumstances in which a fiduciary is bound to override the plan are very limited, 
particularly where the fiduciary is the plan sponsor. See IV. and VI., below. 
 
 
IV. The Settlor Function Doctrine – What is its Reach? 
 
 The settlor function doctrine has taken firm root in ERISA fiduciary jurisprudence. 
The doctrine recognizes that when a plan sponsor is acting like a settlor of a trust, the 
sponsor’s conduct is not subject to the ERISA fiduciary standards. The doctrine was 
sanctioned by the Labor Department in 1986, when it stated that acts taken by a plan 
sponsor in its corporate capacity, e.g., establishing, amending or terminating an 
employee benefit plan, were not to be tested against the ERISA fiduciary standards.8 In 

                                            
7  The ERISA, RICO, and common law claims respecting the saving plan are summarized in 
Appendix A. 
8  Information Ltr. to John Erlenborn, March 13, 1986, reprinted in 13 Pens. & Ben. Rep. (BNA) 472, 
March 17, 1986. 



1995, the doctrine was blessed by the Supreme Court in Curtiss-Wright Corp. v. 
Schoonejongen,9 involving amendments to a health care plan. One year later, the Court 
applied the doctrine in Lockheed Corp. v. Spink,10 holding that a corporate plan sponsor 
was “analogous to the settlor . . . of a trust” when it amended a non-contributory defined 
benefit plan. Further explaining the rationale, the Court said: 
 

only when fulfilling certain defined functions, including the exercise of 
discretionary authority or control over plan management or 
administration,11 does a person become a fiduciary under § 3(21)(A). 
Because [the] defined functions [in the definition of fiduciary] do not 
include the function of plan design, an employer may decide to amend an 
employee benefit plan without being subject to fiduciary review.12 
 

 In its 1999 decision in Hughes Aircraft Co. v. Jacobson,13 the Court applied the 
doctrine again, this time in a case involving a contributory defined benefit plan. 
Schoonejongen, Spink and Jacobson all involved plan amendments, but the logic of the 
reasoning underlying the Court’s holdings is equally compelling in the case of the 
design or termination of a plan,14 and also has been applied to plan spin-offs,15 other 
corporate transactions,16 and corporate employment decisions that impacted plan 
benefits.17  At heart, the settlor function doctrine recognizes the impossibility of 
subjecting a plan sponsor’s design decisions to a standard that might demand that 
every plan be the best, every amendment be favorable to participants, and that would 
prohibit most, if not all, plan terminations. The doctrine almost certainly will be part of 
the Enron fiduciaries’ defense, and is likely to be prominent in the other cases in which 
investment in company stock is under attack.18 

 
 
V. Limitations on the Doctrine 

 
 The settlor function doctrine is not, however, limitless. While the act of 
establishing, amending or terminating a plan is not to be judged under the fiduciary 

                                            
9  514 U.S. 73 (“. . .[P]lan sponsors are generally free under ERISA, for any reason at any time, to 
adopt, modify, or terminate employee welfare plans.”) 
10  517 U.S. 882 (1996). 
11  Quoting from Siskind v. Sperry Retirement Program, 47 F.3d 498, 505 (2d Cir. 1995). 
12  Ibid.  
13  525 U.S. 432 (1999). 
14  See, as examples of plan design cases, Belade v. ITT Corp., 909 .2d 736 (2d Cir. 1990) 
(exclusion of certain employees in design of plan); and Haberern v. Vascular Surgeons Ltd. Defined 
Benefit Pension Plan, 24 F.3d 1491 (3d Cir. 1994) (decision to eliminate part of employee’s compensation 
in order to fund her benefits under newly designed plan) and, as examples of termination cases, Champ 
v. American Pub. Health Ass’n., 8 BNA EB Cases 2217 (D.D.C. 1987), aff’d, 851 F.2d 1500 (D.C. Cir. 
1988) and Cunha v. Ward Foods, 804 F.2d 1418 (9th Cir. 1986). 
15  Bigger v. American Commercial Lines, 862 F.2d 1341 (8th Cir. 1988). 
16  E.g., Dougherty v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 840 F.2d 2 (6th Cir. 1988) (decision to sell business, 
even though terms of sale adversely affected non-vested participants). 
17  Phillips v. Amoco Oil Co., 799 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir. 1987). 
18  See n. 4, above. 



standards, a sponsor’s conduct in implementing a settlor decision may be subject to the 
fiduciary standards. For example, the termination of a plan may necessitate 
discretionary acts of plan administration or plan management, or with respect to the 
management of plan assets. When a defined benefit plan is terminated, it generally is 
necessary to purchase annuities and negotiate their terms, and cases uniformly have 
held that choosing an annuity provider is a fiduciary act, and that the terms of the 
annuities must be negotiated prudently on behalf of the participants and in their interest. 
A plan sponsor that carries out those tasks will not be heard to argue that its conduct in 
doing so is not to be measured against the ERISA fiduciary standards.19  To put it 
another way, the settlor function doctrine will insulate a plan sponsor from scrutiny 
under the ERISA fiduciary rules for terminating a plan, but that insulation will not extend 
to acts, otherwise within the ambit of the fiduciary definition, taken by the sponsor to 
implement the decision. Bearing in mind the Supreme Court’s reasoning in Spink, a key 
question in Enron will be whether the plan fiduciaries had any fiduciary discretion when 
it came to the savings plan rules on investment in company stock. If they did not have 
discretion respecting investment in company stock, they ought not be liable for the 
consequences of investments in that stock. 
 
 
VI. The Case Law Respecting Investment in Company Stock 
 
 Prevailing case law suggests that plaintiffs bear a heavy burden in seeking to 
hold fiduciaries responsible for not overriding the terms of a plan requiring investment in 
company stock or permitting plan participants to invest in company stock. In Moench v. 
Robertson,20 a local bank had made imprudent real estate loans during the ’80s. In 
1989, the default rate soared. During the last six months of 1989, the bank’s stock value 
was cut in half; it lost another third of its value over the next six months and during the 
subsequent year fell almost to zero. A 1990 bank examiner’s report cited unsafe and 
unsound credit practices, a resultant rapid deterioration in the quality of the loan 
portfolio, unreliable regulatory and management reports on loans, inadequacy of the 
reserve for loan and lease losses, and the adverse impact of asset quality upon 
earnings and capital adequacy. In other words, the bank failed to properly conduct an 
absolutely critical part of its business. The plan was an ESOP and, like all ESOPs was 
intended and designed to invest primarily in bank stock. Throughout the period of stock 
decline, the plan committee continued to follow the plan design, held on to the stock the 
ESOP owned and invested in more stock, “despite the Committee’s knowledge of [the 
bank’s] precarious condition by virtue of the members’ status as directors.”21   
 
 The Third Circuit found a “presumption” of action consistent with ERISA when an 
ESOP fiduciary invests in company stock, and required that a plaintiff challenging such 
investment establish “abuse of discretion” by the fiduciary to overcome the presumption. 
The court stated:  

                                            
19  See, e.g., Kayes v. Pacific Lumber Co., 51 F.3d 1449, 1455 (9th Cir.), cert. denied,  516 U.S. 914 
(1995);  Larson v. Northrop Corp., 21 F.3d 1164 (D.C. Cir. 1994). 
20  62 F.3d 553 (3rd Cir. 1995). 
21  Id. at 558. 



 
[a]s in all trust cases, in reviewing the fiduciary’s actions, the court must 
be governed by the intent behind the trust - in other words, the plaintiff 
must show that the ERISA fiduciary could not have believed reasonably 
that continued adherence to the ESOP’s direction was in keeping with the 
settlor’s expectation of how a prudent trustee would operate.22 

 
 In Kuper v. Iovenko,23 a corporation that maintained an ESOP recapitalized and 
sold a division to another company. The purchaser agreed to maintain the jobs of the 
division employees, and also agreed to accept a trust-to-trust transfer of the ESOP 
assets in the accounts of those employees. The trust-to-trust transfer did not occur until 
18 months after the sale effective date and, by the time the transfer occurred the stock 
had lost 4/5 of the value it had on the sale effective date.24   
 
 The ESOP fiduciaries, officers of the seller company, testified that they never 
considered selling the stock and reinvesting the proceeds, despite the fact that they 
knew or had access to knowledge of events that occurred during the 18-month period 
that might well adversely affect the stock value: an increase in the company’s debt as a 
result of the recapitalization; decreased operational diversity; a major fire at a company 
facility that hindered production capacity; and a decline in net sales and income. In 
addition, they knew that the company’s CEO sold all of his company stock six months 
into the 18-month period.25  They did not consult with counsel, they did not obtain the 
advice of experts; they simply adhered to the direction in the ESOP to invest primarily in 
company stock.26 
 
 The Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court’s holding that the defendant trustees 
had not breached any duty under ERISA because plaintiffs were unable to establish that 
a prudent fiduciary that had conducted a full and complete investigation would not have 
continued to hold the stock. In reaching its conclusion, the Sixth Circuit adopted the 
“abuse of discretion” standard and presumption that the Third Circuit adopted in 
Moench.27 

                                            
22  Id. at 571. 
23  66 F.3d 1447 (6th Cir. 1995). 
24  Id. at 1450-51. 
25  Id. at 1459. 
26  Id. at 1451. 
27  Id. at 1459-60. Three lower court ruling show that Plaintiffs must show egregious circumstances 
merely to survive a motion to dismiss when challenging investment in company stock. Canale v. Yegen, 
782 F. Supp. 963 (D.N.J. 1992); Hood v. Smith’s Transfer Corp., 762 F. Supp. 1274 (W.D. Ky. 1991); and 
McKinnon v. Cairns, 698 F. Supp. 852 (W.D. Okla. 1988), denied motions to dismiss where the plaintiff 
alleged that fiduciaries had invested in employer stock at the same time that they defrauded the plan or 
the plan sponsor. 
 The Canale plaintiffs alleged that company officers (who were also ESOP fiduciaries) raided the 
company and depleted its assets. The court held that plaintiffs stated a claim under ERISA, namely that, 
in these circumstances, fiduciaries who defraud the sponsor yet continue to cause the plan to invest in 
the sponsor during and after their fraud violate ERISA’s duty of prudence. McKinnon involved similar 
allegations and resulted in a similar holding. In Hood the plaintiffs alleged that the fiduciaries caused the 



 
 
VII. ESOP v. Eligible Individual Account Plan 
 
 The Moench/Kuper standard of fiduciary and judicial deference to the sponsor’s 
intent should apply to any eligible individual account plan that requires or permits 
investment in company stock. An ESOP is an individual account plan that is designed to 
invest primarily in company stock.28  An eligible individual account plan is a profit 
sharing, stock bonus, thrift or savings plan, or an ESOP that explicitly provides for 
investment in company stock.29  Although there are numerous tax advantages uniquely 
associated with ESOPs, tax treatment is insignificant under the Title I fiduciary 
standards.30  Similarly, the special exemption under section 408 of ERISA for plan 
sponsor loans or loan guarantees for ESOPs is not a characteristic that bears on the 
fiduciary standard that should apply to investment in company stock. The reasoning of 
Moench and Kuper ought to apply to challenges to investment in company stock in the 
context of any participant directed 401(k) plan, just as it applies to ESOPs. In a word, 
plaintiffs seeking to establish fiduciary breaches for a fiduciary’s following the terms of a 
plan with respect to investment in company stock must establish that the fiduciary 
abused his discretion. Did the Administrative Committee abuse its discretion?  
Assuming that Northern Trust, a directed trustee, was a fiduciary, did it abuse its 
discretion? 
 
 
VIII.  A Duty to Communicate or a Duty Not to Communicate Inaccurately? 
 
 In Varity Corp. v. Howe,31 the Supreme Court held that a plan sponsor breached 
its fiduciary duty when it represented to employees it wanted to transfer to a newly 
established spin-off that the new company’s health care and other benefits would be 
secure, all the while knowing that the new company would be under water from day 
one. Holding that the sponsor was a fiduciary, and that lying is inconsistent with the 
fiduciary duty of loyalty, the Court specifically reserved judgment on “the question 
whether ERISA fiduciaries have a duty to disclose truthful information on their own 
initiative . . . .”32   

                                                                                                                                             
plan to buy company stock at prices that they knew were far in excess of its value. In none of these cases 
did the investment decision lie with the plan participants. 
28  Section 407(d)(6) of ERISA. 
29  Section 407(d)(3) of ERISA. The definition also includes a money purchase plan in existence on 
September 2, 1974 and which on such date invested primarily in company stock. 
30  This is not to say that courts hearing Title I claims may not take into account legislative history 
accompanying Code amendments; it is to say that in analyzing such claims relating to investment in 
company stock, there is no basis under Title I to distinguish between ESOPs and other eligible individual 
account plans. 
31  516 U.S. 489 (1996) 
32  516 U.S. 489, 506. The Enron plaintiffs aver that one communication by Mr. Lay was in response 
to an employee inquiry, and was misleading. As to this communication, if Mr. Lay was acting as a 
fiduciary in answering the question, there is precedent that a misleading answer would be a fiduciary 
breach. See, e.g., In re Unisys Corp. Retiree Medical Benefit ERISA Litig., 57 F.3d 1255 (3d Cir. 1995). 



 The lower courts have, to a limited extent, addressed this question, with mixed 
results. For example, a 1993 Seventh Circuit decision says, “[f]iduciaries must also 
communicate material facts affecting the interests of the beneficiaries . . . . This duty 
exists when a beneficiary asks fiduciaries for information, and even when he or she 
does not.”33  Yet, in a 1997 decision involving an allegation that pension plan fiduciaries 
had an affirmative obligation to advise a plan participant about the irrevocable 
consequences of his choice of form of benefit, the Third Circuit said that the 
participant’s failure to inquire did not necessarily bar his claim (i.e., that there might be 
an affirmative duty to communicate), but remanded for findings of fact regarding 
materiality and the scope of the duty of care.34  And in 1999, again in a case having to 
do with the permanence of benefits (not investments), the Third Circuit summarized 
cases suggesting an affirmative duty might exist but then held that it was not persuaded 
that the fiduciary was obligated to tell participants that their benefits might be changed 
at some point in the future.35 
 
 Here, the communications that plaintiffs assert should have occurred but did not 
would have involved investment advice. Essentially, the Enron plaintiffs maintain that 
Enron Corp., CEO Lay, and the Enron Board’s Compensation Committee were 
obligated to advise the savings plan’s administrative committee as to the true financial 
condition of the company, and that Olson, Enron’s executive vice president for human 
resources and a member of the administrative committee, failed to advise the 
participants “that Enron was a house of cards.”  Plaintiffs assert that Olson failed to 
warn participants and to take appropriate action to “save their investments.”  Since the 
investment in question is Enron stock, it’s hard to see how Olson might have warned 
participants without giving them investment advice. Yet the Labor Department regulation 
on participant directed plans plainly states that a fiduciary has no obligation to provide 
investment advice.36  Even in the absence of the Department’s regulation, interpreting 
ERISA’s fiduciary responsibility provisions to require fiduciaries to furnish investment 
advice has far more serious implications than requiring fiduciaries to explain the 
difference between a life annuity and a joint and survivor annuity, or requiring them to 
advise participants considering early retirement that a window period that will offer a 
sweeter deal is under serious consideration. 
 
 Further, if the subject of the communications is company stock, the same 
deferential Moench/Kuper standard – abuse of discretion - that is applied when 
measuring other fiduciary conduct having to do with company stock ought to apply to 
participant communications or the lack thereof. Under this standard, as the court in 
Moench stated: 
 

“[a]s in all trust cases, in reviewing the fiduciary’s actions, the court must 
be governed by the intent behind the trust - in other words, the plaintiff 

                                            
33  Anweiler v. American Elec. Serv. Corp., 3 F.3d 986, 991 (3d Cir. 1993). 
34  Jordan v. Federal Express Corp., 116 F. 3d 1005 (3d Cir. 1997) 
35  U.A.W. v. Skinner Engine Co., 188 F.3d 103 (3d Cir. 1999) 
36  29 C.F.R. § 2550.404c-1(c)(4). Plaintiffs allege that the savings plan did not comply with the 
regulation, but the reasons given in the complaint are not very persuasive.  



must show that the ERISA fiduciary could not have believed reasonably 
that continued adherence to the [plan]’s direction was in keeping with the 
settlor’s expectation of how a prudent trustee would operate.”37 

 
 
IX. Insider Trading 
 
 Assuming that Enron was a “house of cards” and that Olson knew it, If she had 
disclosed Enron’s “true financial condition” to the savings plan’s participants and 
advised them to sell their Enron stock but Enron did not make the same information 
available to the shareholder public, at least an issue would be raised under the 
securities laws’ insider trading rules. 
 
 
X. Huh? 
 
 Parsing through the Enron plaintiffs’ claims brings a sense of profound unreality. 
Had Olson done what the plaintiffs say she should have done, she almost certainly 
would have been summarily dismissed.  
 

(Bedside alarm rings. Enron Vice President for Human Resources Olson 
awakes, her head filled with thoughts about the coming day. “What will I 
do today?  Oh, I know!  I’m going to tell the administrative committee that 
we need to override the terms of the ESOP and dump all of the Enron 
stock it’s holding, and we need to tell the savings plan participants they 
should dump all of the Enron stock in their plan accounts because – and I 
have this on good authority from Ms. Watkins, our V.P. for Corporate 
Development – the company is going to implode in a wave of accounting 
scandals. Hmmm . . . What else?  Oh, yeah, almost forgot. After I get 
fired, I’ll apply for another VP job as head of human resources at another 
big company. Surely, someone will hire me.”) 
 

A company officer who is a fiduciary should not have to weigh her job against her 
fiduciary duty. In that contest, fiduciary duty will always lose.  
 
 At Enron, employee stock ownership was for many  - officers and rank and file 
alike - an article of faith.38  Assuming the truth of the Tittle allegations and the accuracy 
of the narrative of the complaint, it may be that the focus of management at Enron 
shifted over a period of time from the business of the company to the price of the 
                                            
37  62 F.3d 553, 571 (3d Cir. 1995). 
38  The allure of controlling one’s own retirement investments and the fascination with company 
stock are not confined to employees of high flyers and techie companies. See Appendix B for a recent LA 
Times article about the difficulties the AFL-CIO is having in reconciling its historical distaste for defined 
contribution plans and company stock investments in particular with its members’ desire for control and 
their interest in investing their 401(k) accounts in the companies that employ them. 
 
 



company’s stock. As the Tittle case moves forward, the extent to which Enron plan 
fiduciaries should be held responsible for diminishment in employees’ company stock 
accounts, if at all, will be sorted out. However that comes out, it is certain that the 
application of ERISA remedies in the Enron situation will not have a prophylactic effect 
to prevent similar forms of corporate misdirection elsewhere. ERISA was not designed 
to change the way corporations conduct themselves. If that kind of change is necessary, 
it will take something a bit more fundamental. 



Appendix A 
 

 
ERISA, RICO and Common Law Claims in Tittle, et al. v. Enron Corp, et al. 
 
 
I. Plaintiffs – The named plaintiffs were employees of Enron or its affiliates and 

were participants in the Enron savings plan, ESOP, or cash balance plan, and/or 
owned stock in a company phantom stock fund that was not an ERISA plan. 
They are alleged to be representative of a class of 24,000 Enron employees. The 
savings plan class period is January 20, 1998 – December 2, 2001. 

 
II. Defendants 
 

A. Enron Corp.  
 
B. The “Enron ERISA Defendants” – the savings plan administrative committee, 

a named fiduciary, and each member of the administrative committee.  
 
C. Northern Trust, the directed trustee of the savings plan and a named 

fiduciary. 
 
D. The “Enron Insider Defendants” – Enron Chairman and CEO Kenneth Lay, 

and other top officers of Enron, including Messrs. Skilling and Causey, and all 
members of the Board during the class period. 

 
E. The “Compensation Committee Defendants” – three members of the Board 

who comprised the compensation committee of Enron’s Board of Directors. 
 
F. The “Accountant Defendants” - Arthur Andersen and several of its partners. 
 
G. The “Investment Banking Defendants” – Merrill Lynch, J.P. Morgan Chase, 

Credit Suisse First Boston, and Citigroup. 
 
H. The “Attorney Defendants” - Vinson & Elkins, LLP (Enron’s corporate 

counsel) and several of its partners. 
 
III. ERISA Claims Relating to the Savings Plan. 
 

A. Inducing and mandating investment in company stock – against the 
Enron ERISA Defendants and Enron Insider Defendants Lay, Skilling, and 
Causey, all in their fiduciary capacities – for violating §§ 404 (duties of care 
and loyalty) and 405 (co-fiduciary duty) of ERISA, against Enron Corp., both 
in its fiduciary capacity and as a knowing participant in breaches by the Enron 
ERISA defendants, and against Arthur Andersen as a knowing participant. 

 



B. Proceeding with, and giving insufficient notice of, the savings plan 
trading freeze (“Lockdown”) at a time when the price of Enron stock 
was falling – against Enron Corp., the Enron ERISA Defendants, Enron 
Insider Defendants Lay, Skilling, and Causey, and Northern Trust in their 
fiduciary capacities, for violating  §§ 404 and 405 of ERISA. 

 
C. Failure to diversify – against Enron Corp., the Enron ERISA Defendants, 

Enron Insider Defendants Lay, Skilling, and Causey, and Northern Trust in 
their fiduciary capacities for failing to adhere to the diversification boilerplate 
in the savings plan, for violating § 404(a)(1)(D) (duty to follow terms of plan). 

 
D. Failure to monitor and/or failure to keep investing fiduciaries apprised – 

against Enron Corp. and the Compensation Committee Defendants in their 
fiduciary capacities, for violating §§ 404 (duties of care and loyalty) and 405 
(co-fiduciary liability) by appointing conflicted persons to manage plan assets, 
by not monitoring the Administrative Committee, and by not advising the 
“investing fiduciaries” of Enron’s true financial condition. 

 
IV. RICO Claims. 
 

A. RICO § 1962(c) and (d) Claim – against the Enron Insider Defendants, the 
Accountant Defendants, the Investment Banker Defendants and the Attorney 
Defendants, for conducting or conspiring to conduct the affairs of, among 
others, the savings plan through a pattern of racketeering that violated 18 
U.S.C. §§ 664 (embezzlement from an ERISA plan or conversion of its 
assets), 1341 and 1343 (wire fraud), and 2314 (interstate transportation to 
execute wrongful schemes) proximately causing injury to the savings plan. 

 
B. RICO § 1962(a) and (d) Claim – against the Enron Insider Defendants, 

Andersen, and the Investment Banking Defendants, for receipt of income 
generated by a pattern of racketeering that violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 664, 1341 
and 1343, and 2314. 

 
V. Negligence Claim under Texas Law – against Anderson for breach of the duty 

of care it owed to the savings plan in connection with its audits of Enron Corp. 
and the savings plan. 

 
VI. Civil Conspiracy Claim – against Enron, the Enron Insider Defendants, 

Investment Banking Defendants, and the Attorney Defendants, for conspiring to 
mask Enron’s true financial condition, while knowing that the false picture would 
induce Enron employees to accept as part of their compensation greatly 
overvalued company stock. 

 
VII. Relief Sought. 
 

A. Certification of the class. 



 
B. Hold Enron ERISA Defendants, Messrs. Lay and Skilling, the Compensation 

Committee Defendants, and Northern Trust liable to the savings plan for 
violating their ERISA fiduciary and co-fiduciary duties, and hold Andersen 
liable as a knowing participant in the fiduciary breaches of the others. 

 
C. Enjoin the Enron ERISA Defendants and the Compensation Committee 

Defendants from violating ERISA. 
 
D. Impose treble damages under the RICO counts and enjoin all defendants 

from further RICO racketeering activity. 
 
E. Order that compensatory and punitive damages be paid by the Accounting 

Defendants, the Enron Insider Defendants, the Investment Banking 
Defendants and the Attorney Defendants under the Texas law counts. 
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Labor's Love of 401(k)s Thwarts Bid for Reform 
By PETER G. GOSSELIN 
Times Staff Writer 
 
April 22, 2002 
 
WASHINGTON -- When lawmakers declared they would seek sweeping new 
protections for the nation's retirement system in the wake of Enron's collapse in 
December, you could have predicted some of the opponents: corporate types 
interested in preserving arrangements that ensure cushy tax breaks, free 
marketeers fearful of any extension of government power and so forth. 
 
But add to the opposition an unusual ally: the American labor movement. 
 
Top labor leaders quietly refused to support the most stringent congressional 
proposal, one that would have taken an important first step toward affording 
401(k) accounts the same protections that have long applied to traditional 
pensions. 
 
In interviews, officials with the nation's largest labor group, the 13-million member 
AFL-CIO, insisted their opposition to a so-called company stock cap was largely 
tactical. They feared the measure would galvanize corporate opposition against 
any reform. 
 
But the officials conceded they also were influenced by internal polls showing 
that union members are deeply enamored of their 401(k)s, often to a greater 
extent than they are of their financially more important and far less risky union-
won pensions. 
 
"Our people just value their ability to make their own personal decisions. They 
trust their own investment decisions more than they do anybody else's," said 
Jerry Shea, chief policy advisor to AFL-CIO President John J. Sweeney. 
 
Worker infatuation with 401(k)s and organized labor's opposition to strict limits on 
how they can be invested illustrate how extensively the investor culture of the 
1990s penetrated the nation. And continued enthusiasm for individual retirement 
accounts even after two years of stock declines suggests how powerfully the idea 
of hitting it rich in the markets still grips America. 



 
The combination, many retirement policy experts fear, could prove fatal to any 
kind of thoroughgoing reform. 
 
"There's a fundamental disconnect between people's fondness for 401(k)s as a 
personal investment vehicle and the fact that they are, first and foremost, key 
elements of our nation's retirement system," said J. Mark Iwry, who as the 
Treasury Department's tax benefits counsel from 1995 to 2000 was one of the 
nation's top retirement plan regulators. 
 
"The 401(k) would not exist without the generous tax advantages provided by 
law. Those advantages are designed to ensure Americans have adequate and 
secure income to live on when they retire. 
 
"It makes no sense to provide tax breaks, then do nothing to protect the accounts 
from the kind of imprudent investment that occurred at Enron," Iwry said. 
 
More than 20,000 Enron employees lost most of their retirement savings when 
the Texas energy giant collapsed, dragging the workers' 401(k) accounts, which 
had been chockablock with company stock, down with it. The losses were 
particularly galling because they came as top executives were simultaneously 
selling off large blocks of their own stock and encouraging subordinates to keep 
on buying. 
 
The resulting public outcry sparked broad initial support for a proposal by Sens. 
Barbara Boxer (D-Calif.) and Jon Corzine (D-N.J.) to slap a 20% cap on the 
amount of company stock permitted in a 401(k). 
 
Policy experts said the stock cap idea represented a first, tentative attempt to 
cope with what amounts to a sea change in the nation's retirement system over 
the last two decades, one with potentially dire consequences for how the baby 
boom generation will live once it stops working. 
 
Unlike most advanced industrial nations, which have public retirement systems 
designed to replace most of a worker's income when he or she stops working, 
America's Social Security system replaces only up to about 40% of pre-
retirement income. Americans are expected to look elsewhere for the rest. 
 
For much of the postwar period, the "elsewhere" was chiefly the private pension. 
 
Employers managed pots of money to ensure they could pay retirees. 
Washington encouraged the process by offering big tax breaks while protecting 
workers by imposing a 10% cap on company stock, requiring broad 
diversification of investments and guaranteeing payment of benefits. 
 



Beginning in the early 1980s, the government also began encouraging 
individuals to save for retirement by offering tax breaks for salting away funds in 
401(k)s and similar accounts. In these, the risk for their performance rested with  
individuals rather than employers. But Washington did little to regulate them 
largely on the theory they were mere sidelights to pensions. 
 
However, the longest bull stock market in U.S. history turned the retirement world 
on its head by convincing people they could use the individual accounts to take 
care of their own retirement needs. 
 
By now, there are more people dependent on individual accounts than pensions,  
more money going into them and bigger tax breaks devoted to encouraging 
them, according to the Employee Benefit Research Institute. 
 
The Bush administration estimates the government will provide $60 billion in tax  
breaks this year underwriting 401(k) accounts, compared with $53 billion on 
traditional pensions. These add up to the single biggest tax break that the 
government offers--almost double the much better-known mortgage interest 
deduction. 
 
In the popular imagination, they have taken over so thoroughly that, despite stark 
evidence to the contrary, many Americans believe 401(k)s will be the chief 
source of their retirement income. 
 
"People have some deep misunderstandings about these accounts," said top 
Washington pollster Mark Mellman. That includes union members with top-flight  
traditional pensions as well as 401(k)s. 
 
"We've polled employee groups with pensions that guarantee they'll get 70% or 
80% of their income after retirement and 401(k)s with only $10,000 or $15,000 in  
them, and three quarters or more still think their 401(k)s will provide most of their 
retirement benefits," he said. 
 
In fact, despite the wild popularity of 401(k) accounts, the average account 
balance for all Americans at the end of the longest boom in U.S. history was 
barely $49,000--not enough to even begin delivering an adequate retirement 
income. 
 
"It's absurd, but people have been led to believe their 401(k)s will take care of 
them," Mellman said. 
 
That was the backdrop when unions began backing away from their initial 
support of the proposed 20% limit on company stock in 401(k) accounts . 
 
AFL-CIO officials convened a series of private meetings with affiliate unions in  
January and February to gauge support and found very little. 



 
"There were people there," said Robert Patrician, a research economist with the  
Communications Workers of America, "who felt that members did not want to be  
restricted in investing their tax-advantaged dollars." Nor did the union officials 
want to be the ones to tell the members what was good for them. 
 
Officials also began hearing from members like Joseph M. Furst, a former 
General Electric salesman from Rocky Hill, Conn., who adamantly opposes 
applying to 401(k)s the same rules the government imposes on traditional 
pensions. 
 
"The government wants to mandate everything," the 62-year-old retiree 
complained. "They mandate the design of your car. They mandate the design of  
your toilet. Now they want to mandate where you can invest your money." 
 
Furst said he has doubled the value of his 401(k) since taking early retirement 
five years ago by putting virtually all of it into GE stock. He said he has no 
worries he could suffer a fate similar to that of Enron workers. 
 
The combination of reluctant union leaders and angry union members proved 
potent. Lawmakers quickly rallied around a compromise that, by focusing only on  
firms without traditional pensions, left organized labor largely untouched. 
 
Under a measure advanced by Sen. Edward M. Kennedy (D-Mass.), companies 
that don't have pensions like those offered by most unionized firms would have 
their right to use company stock in retirement plans somewhat restricted. In 
addition, the firms would have to let employees unload company stock from their 
401(k)s after three years. 
 
But the idea of an outright cap on company stock would be dropped. 
 
A defeated Corzine said in a statement last week that "as a pure policy matter"  
he still believes a cap is the best approach. But he added, "I support the Kennedy 
proposal as a viable compromise . . . to protect workers' retirement savings 
through diversification."  
 


